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Message from the Chair
Pacific Blue Cross is a not-for-profit health benefits society dedicated to 
providing health, dental, life, disability and travel coverage for 1.4 million 
British Columbians. That’s 1 in 3 British Columbians who rely on us for their 
health benefits. We take very seriously the responsibility of translating 
our mission and values into practices that shape Pacific Blue Cross as a 
‘Member First’ organization.

The organization is governed by an elected Board of Directors 
whose primary responsibility is to foster the long-term success 
of Pacific Blue Cross, while ensuring we fulfill our responsibilities 
to our Members. My name is Richard Taylor, and I am pleased to 
have been elected to the role of Chair of the Pacific Blue Cross 
Board of Directors for the third time. Having served as a Director 
since 1991, I am pleased to welcome three new Directors who were 
elected by voters at our July 24, 2018, Annual General Meeting.

• Trevor Davies

• Marty Gibbons

• Joey Hartman

With the election came the departure of three Board Members, 
Colleen Jordan, John Fitzpatrick, and Bob Wallis. Each of these Directors 
has contributed years of dedication and service to Pacific Blue Cross, and for 
that we thank them.

Delivering on our mission to improve health and wellbeing for British 
Columbians is embedded in every one of our business practices and can 
also clearly be seen through the work of the Pacific Blue Cross Foundation. 
On behalf of Jim Iker, Chair of the Foundation, I am proud to share that in 
2018 the Foundation donated $100,000 to programs focused on preventing 
or alleviating chronic disease, and $167,185 was provided to organizations 
committed to mental health initiatives. The Foundation also provided $9,400 in 
post-secondary scholarships to support the next generation of change makers 
in health and wellness. At Pacific Blue Cross, we have a passion for making 
real change in the health of our Province, and I believe 2019 will be a very 
exciting and rewarding year for the organization. On behalf of the Board of 
Directors, I want to thank our Members, Plan Sponsors, and employees 
for being with us on the journey to make British Columbia healthier.

 
Richard Taylor, ICD.D, Board Chair
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Message from the President and CEO
‘Member First’ is not just a slogan, it is the lens we use to guide our business 
and inform the decisions we make. It means treating our Members how we 
would want to be treated with healthy service, healthy coverage and healthy 
savings. 2018 marks the second year of our five-year strategy to foster 
a strong ‘Member First’ culture at Pacific Blue Cross with a focus on 
accountability, innovation and strength as BC’s #1 benefits provider.

In October 2018, we launched a brand-new website that features a 
personalized experience for Members, Providers, and Administrators. 
With new robust self-serve options, our website is the #1 channel of 
choice for making claims and learning about the healthy coverage 
and healthy savings that come with being a Member. We also had 
a record 40% increase in downloads of our Mobile App, which is 
so easy to use you could submit a claim in less time than it takes to 
read this page.

We also made technological improvements behind the scenes as 
strategic automation simplified and streamlined the onboarding of 
groups and improved the overall claiming experience. In addition to 
our strides in the digital space, we recognize the need for personal 
contact with our Members. We continue to grow our customer service 
team while working to improve the claims process and expand our 
network of health care Providers so claims can be paid directly at the 
point of care. I am proud to say that our high customer experience scores 
in 2018 reflect the prompt and effective service that our Members deserve.

At Pacific Blue Cross, we know that improved service and increased savings 
can go hand in hand, especially when it comes to rising healthcare costs. 
With that in mind, we remain focused on the continued development and 
growth of our Preferred Pharmacy Network (PPN), so Members can save on 
out of pocket costs while helping benefits plans remain sustainable.

As a not-for-profit, we are for the care of our Members, their families, and for 
the care of the community. Guided by our mission, we focused on improving 
the health of the entire province though our annual health challenge. This 
year, over 160,000 British Columbians pledged to meet their health goal of 
quitting smoking, eating well, or exercising. To help inspire our community to 
get out and be active, we were the returning sponsor for the Vancouver Sun Run 
volunteers — providing water, directions, and cheers for over 45,000 runners. 
We also cheer on another very special group through the Children’s Wish 
Foundation of Canada, as we continue to provide travel insurance to children 
who are diagnosed with a life-threatening illness.
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We’re always adding new offerings to better serve our Members, and 2018 was no different. The nature of 
work has changed, so we partnered with Vancity to create and launch a health benefits plan to cater to the 
new part-time economy made up of millennials and a growing number of retiree-aged workers who have 
turned to freelance work to supplement their retirement income. We also developed and launched Trip 
Protection to defend our Members from the unexpected when travelling and Critical Illness Insurance to 
provide financial support when it’s needed most.

2018 holds a particularity special milestone for me, as I was officially appointed as President and Chief 
Executive Officer. With over 30 years at Pacific Blue Cross, and 14 years as the Chief Financial Officer, 
I couldn’t be happier to lead this organization and continue my journey with all of you.

This year, the Pacific Blue Cross family also lost a respected member. It is with sadness we reflect on the 
passing of former President and CEO Ken Martin after a courageous battle with cancer.

On behalf of the 700 local health experts on the corner of Canada Way and Gilmore right here in Burnaby, 
we thank you for trusting us with your health and wellbeing.

Healthy wishes,

 
John Crawford, President and Chief Executive Officer

A Note of Remembrance
For a decade, Ken Martin was at the helm of Pacific Blue Cross.  
He was a visionary whose ingenuity and dedication will forever hold 
a place in the heart of this organization.

Ken began at Pacific Blue Cross as President and CEO in January 
2003. From his early days, it was clear that Ken would lead 
with integrity in his efforts to foster technological innovation 
and position the company for growth in an increasingly 
competitive industry. Ken’s years of strategic leadership left 
ripples that are still seen today.



Healthy Service
From our Mobile App to a brand new personalized website experience, we’re serious about expanding 
our digital offerings while still maintaining the personal, BC based customer service our Members value.

Mobile App
• The free Pacific Blue Cross Mobile App puts benefits at your 

fingertips. Sign-in using fingerprint touch ID, submit claims with 
a photo of your receipt and buy additional coverage easily.

New Website
• In 2018 we said goodbye to CARESnet, and hello to Member 

Profile — a personalized one-stop-shop for everything coverage 
related — from filing claims, to adding additional coverage and 
proactive health solutions for you and your family.

4

NUMBER OF USER INTERACTIONS 

ON THE APP EACH MONTH 3 MILLION

OF CLAIMS WERE 
PAID ONLINE IN 201880% 20.5 

MILLION
NUMBER OF 
ELECTRONIC 
CLAIMSAVERAGE CALLS PER DAY ANSWERED 

BY OUR LOCAL HEALTH EXPERTS2,200

From banking to shopping, our lives are moving 
online at a rapid pace. As a Member first organization, 
we pride ourselves on keeping up with the needs of 
the 1 in 3 British Columbians who rely on us for easy 
access to the benefits that help keep them healthy.”

Leza Muir, Sr. Vice-President & Chief Operating Officer



Healthy Coverage
We recognize the need to adapt and grow to meet the demands of our Members, and 2018 was a great 
year for innovation. We welcomed the growing gig economy in British Columbia with a new product and 
partnership with Vancity, we also launched our Critical Illness and Trip Protection insurance products.

Living in BC is expensive (we know, we live here too) so we created our Critical 
Illness Insurance product to help cover life’s expenses when the unexpected 
happens with our Member’s health. When the unexpected happens with 
our Member’s travel plans, we now provide Trip Protection to provide peace 
of mind coverage for travel costs related to unexpected cancellations, 
interruptions and delays. Pacific Blue Cross is also proud to offer Vancity 
Members new, unique, ‘big company style’ health benefits where they 
have not traditionally been available, leveling the playing field for 
entrepreneurs, small businesses and independent workers, who form 
the backbone of business here in BC.
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NEARLY ONE 
IN FIVE BRITISH 
COLUMBIANS 
WORKS IN THE 
GIG ECONOMY

48%
OF BRITISH COLUMBIANS 
WHO RESPONDED TO 
A 2018 SURVEY HAVE 
NEITHER CRITICAL 
ILLNESS OR 
DISABILITY  
INSURANCE

FOR THE 2ND 
YEAR IN A ROW 
PACIFIC BLUE 
CROSS WAS 

VOTED CANADA’S 
#1 MOST TRUSTED 
BRAND OF TRAVEL 
INSURANCE

Our new products and services help to deliver on our 
mission to improve health and wellbeing for British 
Columbians. Members will find great value in these 
innovative new offerings and can experience them  
live on our brand new website.”

Heidi Worthington, Sr. Vice-President & Chief Revenue Officer, 
Pacific Blue Cross and Chief Operating Officer, BC Life
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Healthy Savings
We are dedicated to improving the health and wellbeing of British 
Columbians. This means providing you with everything you need to receive 
the best possible care and looking out for the best ways to save you time 
and money.

With our Preferred Pharmacy Network, Pacific Blue Cross has 
partnered with leading pharmacy retailers to offer guaranteed 
low prices and low dispensing fees to our Plan Members in 
BC. Pacific Blue Cross Members also have access to exclusive 
Member discounts on Pacific Blue Cross insurance.

THE AVERAGE PHARMACY 
DISPENSING FEE IN 2018

THE AMOUNT MEMBERS SAVE  
ON OUR TRAVEL INSURANCE

PREFERRED PHARMACY NETWORK USER INTERACTIONS IN 2018

$10

10%

43,000 

Your membership with Pacific Blue Cross is 
beneficial for both your pocketbook and your 
health and wellbeing. From discounts through 
our Preferred Pharmacy Network to leveraging 
our technology to process a claim instantly in your 
health care provider’s office, we provide savings and 
convenience at  your fingertips.”

Barry Rivelis, Sr. Vice-President & Chief Strategy 
and Information Officer



Healthy Communities
Since its inception in 2011, the Pacific Blue Cross Health Foundation has:

• provided financial support for more than 150 organizations that are improving outcomes for 
British Columbians in the areas of chronic disease and mental health.

• contributed over $2.7 million to organizations in BC, supporting a wide variety of causes.

In 2018, the Pacific Blue Cross Health Foundation provided:

• $100,000 for projects focused on preventing or alleviating chronic disease.

• $167,185 for projects supporting mental health initiatives.

Mental Health
In 2018, the Pacific Blue Cross Health Foundation gave $167,185 to organizations supporting 
mental health initiatives. Some of our commitments included:

• 1st Williams Lake Junior Cadets Society 
Mental Health First Aid for Adults who work with Youth Workshop

• Pacific Assistance Dogs Society 
PTSD Program Development

• McLeese Lake Volunteer Fire Department 
Health & Wellbeing Training for Volunteer Fire Department Members
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Chronic Disease
We also gave $100,000 to programs focused on preventing or alleviating chronic disease. Some of 
our commitments included:

• MOVE Adapted Fitness & Rehabilitation Society of BC 
Supported Therapeutic Exercise Program — automated doors for the entrance of the facility for 
easier access

• Kootenay Boundary Regional Hospital & Health Foundation 
Handheld ultrasound to support Renal Patients

• BC Mobility Opportunities Society 
Purchase of new TrailRider and kayak for Adaptive Hiking and Adaptive Paddling Programs

In addition to one-time donations, the Pacific Blue Cross Health Foundation is also involved in large, 
multi-year commitments that will serve to benefit community health and wellbeing for years to come.

In 2018, our commitments included: 
 

 

 
$100,000 donation over four years toward the Royal Columbian Hospital’s new Mental Health and 
Substance Use Wellness Centre.

$150,000 donation over five years to the Wig Bank program, a BC-wide community resource for women 
who have lost their hair following cancer treatment, hosted by the Canadian Cancer Society in BC and 
Yukon. The Wig Bank has locations across the province, including those within their four lodges in 
Vancouver, Prince George, Victoria and Kelowna.

 

$100,000 donation over four years toward Peace Arch Hospital’s new mental health unit within the 
Hospice and Residential Care Facility.

8



Corporate Sponsorship Program
In 2018, Pacific Blue Cross gave close to $300,000 to local not-for-profits through our corporate 
sponsorship program, including: The United Way, Children’s Wish Foundation, Dress for Success, 
and the YWCA.

Highlights in Care 2018
Blue Cross and Children’s Wish Foundation: Partnering in Wishes for Over 30 Years.

Wish Month
In partnership with the Children’s Wish Foundation of Canada, Pacific Blue 
Cross celebrated Wish Month with the 2018 iWish Campaign. Blue Cross 
chapters were invited to join in on the month-long fundraising efforts, 
which resulted in over $27,000 being raised to help grant heartfelt wishes 
for kids with life-threatening illnesses.

Year-Round Support
Blue Cross has been a proud partner with Children’s Wish Foundation for over three decades and, in that 
time, we’ve helped to make thousands of dream trips a reality by providing travel insurance for wish 
children. Providing insurance frees families from the worry of costly health setbacks, so wish children can 
experience the joy of travel — children like Richard, who will soon get to experience his dream trip to 
Disney World.

This is Richard, he is five and 
loves Elmo and Disney movies. 
He has Down Syndrome and was 
diagnosed with Leukemia at the 
age of 2, but that didn’t stop his 
smile. His family knows a trip 
to Disney World would make 
his smile shine even brighter. 
Through our partnership with 
Children’s Wish, Pacific Blue Cross 
is proud to help make Richard’s 
heartfelt wish come true.
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Pacific Blue Cross Health Challenge
To encourage British Columbians to eat healthy, exercise or quit smoking, Pacific Blue Cross once again 
hosted a New Year’s resolution contest with three grand prizes of $2,018 in Health Cash. This year, more 
than 160,000 participants entered the contest and shared their healthy resolution on social media with 
their friends and family.

Vancouver Sun Run

As part of a multi-year partnership, Pacific Blue 
Cross was proud to be the Volunteer Sponsor at the 
2018 Vancouver Sun Run. We provided T-shirts for 
volunteers and sponsored the water stations for over 
45,000 runners.

 
Reducing our Footprint
Our Green Team focuses on 
increasing employee awareness 
and personal accountability. We are 
actively reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions and diverting more and 
more waste from the landfill every 
year. How are we accomplishing 
this? We’ve reduced our amount 
of paper usage by increasing our 
digital claiming technology, we compost food waste and paper towels and we continue to search 
for ways to reduce our hydro and gas consumption by working with our supply chain to reduce 
delivery and pickup frequency and volume.

GHC Emissions per full-time-equivalent (metric tonnes)
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Living our Mission: Staff Volunteerism
From pulling a Boeing 757 aircraft in support of United Way to riding a 30-seat bicycle for the 
Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada’s Big Bike event, Pacific Blue Cross employees work 
together to make amazing things happen.

Highlights for 2018 include:

Miracle Weekend
Pacific Blue Cross has supported the BC Children’s Hospital Miracle Weekend for 
more than 20 years. In 2018, a group of PBC staff took donations over the phone, 
helping to raise more than $21 million. This event is of special significance to 
Pacific Blue Cross as John Crawford, President & CEO, has served as Master Tally of 
the event for the past 30 years.

Big Bike
Many feet make light work! The Big Bike is an annual fundraising event where teams cycle together to 
support the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. In 2018, the PBC Heart Throbs raised more than 
$5,500 to help fund life-saving research.
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Giving back is woven into the fabric of who we 
are, and that includes our employees who spend 
countless hours giving back through volunteering. 
We aim to empower our staff at every level to 
become citizen philanthropists who harness their 
professional skills for good and strengthen the 
communities they care about.”

Rob Chiarello, Sr. Vice-President People & Culture  
and Chief Privacy Officer



Responsibility for the Annual Report
The management of PBC Health Benefits Society is responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of 
the financial statements and other information in the Annual Report. The complete financial statements, 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), include amounts based 
on estimates and judgments. Financial information and operating data presented elsewhere in this Annual 
Report are consistent with that in the complete financial statements.

PBC Health Benefits Society maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which 
provide management with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and reliable financial records 
are maintained. This system includes written policies and procedures, an organizational structure that 
segregates duties and a program of periodic audits by internal auditors.

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors to carry out an annual valuation of the 
insurance liabilities. In performing this valuation, the Appointed Actuary makes assumptions as to future 
rates of interest, mortality, morbidity, expenses, inflation, reinsurance recoveries, and other contingencies, 
taking into account the circumstances of the Society and the policies in force. The Appointed Actuary is 
responsible for ensuring that these assumptions and the methods for the valuation of insurance liabilities 
are in accordance with accepted actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated regulations and 
directives, and is required to provide an opinion on the appropriateness of the insurance liabilities at the 
balance sheet date to meet all policyholder obligations of PBC Health Benefits Society.

KPMG LLP, an independent auditor, has been appointed to express an opinion 
as to whether these financial statements fairly present the Society’s financial 
position and operating results in all material respects in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

The Appointed Actuary and independent auditor may consider each 
other’s work in discharging their respective responsibilities.

The Board of Directors have reviewed and approved these financial 
statements. To assist the Board in meeting its responsibility, 
it has appointed an Audit Committee, comprised entirely of 
independent Directors. The committee meets periodically 
with management, the internal auditors and the independent 
auditors to review internal accounting controls, audit results 
and accounting principles and practices.

Lizanne Mailhot, BAccS, CPA, CGA
Interim Chief Financial Officer
March 19, 2019
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Appointed Actuary’s Report 
February 15, 2019
To the Members of PBC Health Benefits Society:

I have valued the policy liabilities and reinsurance recoverables of PBC Health Benefits Society (operating 
as Pacific Blue Cross) for its consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2018 and their 
changes in the statement of income for the year then ended in accordance with the accepted actuarial 
practice in Canada including selection of appropriate assumptions and methods.

In my opinion, the amount of policy liabilities net of reinsurance recoverables makes appropriate 
provision for all policy obligations and the consolidated financial statements fairly present the results of 
the valuation.

Josephine E Marks 
Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries
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KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

 
 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of PBC Health Benefits Society 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PBC Health Benefits Society (the 
Society), which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 
 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) for the year then ended 
 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended  
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies 
(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Society as at December 31, 2018, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Society's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Vancouver, Canada 
March 19, 2019 
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PBC HEALTH BENEFITS SOCIETY 
(Operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 
 
   Notes 2018 2017 
 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 8,988 $ - 

Restricted cash 5 - 1,260 

Investments 6 396,985 434,075 

Amounts due from reinsurers   4,011 8,594 

Reinsurers share of insurance liabilities 7 96,100 96,809 

Trade and other receivables  8 61,784 46,262 

Other assets 9 5,014 4,053 

Property and equipment  10 22,967 25,098 

Goodwill and intangible assets  11 45,789 51,699 

  $ 641,638 $ 667,850 
 

Liabilities and Equity 
Bank indebtedness  $ - $ 5,541 

Trade and other payables 12 220,213 188,912 

Members’ dues received in advance 13 12,942 11,497 

Finance lease liabilities 14 868 1,250 

Insurance liabilities 7 191,229 189,030 

Employee benefits 15 11,930 57,736 
  437,182 453,966 

Equity: 
Reserves 16 10,000 10,000 
Retained earnings 211,687 225,928 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (17,231) (22,044) 
  204,456 213,884 

Commitments 17 
Contingencies  18 
 
  $ 641,638 $ 667,850 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 
  Director  Director 

17



 

2 

PBC HEALTH BENEFITS SOCIETY 
(Operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (loss) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 
 
   Notes 2018 2017 
 
Billings processed 19 $ 1,394,602 $ 1,361,916 
 
Revenue: 

Premium revenue  $ 370,202 $ 368,318 
Premiums ceded to reinsurers  (30,046) (31,094) 
Net insurance premiums earned  340,156 337,224 
 
Fees from self-insured plans  33,314 36,456 
Fee and other income  7,827 8,303 
Commissions earned from reinsurers  4,506 4,734 
Investment income (loss) 20 (3,594) 27,592 
Total revenues 382,209 414,309 

 
Claims and expenses: 

Insurance claims incurred  260,371 269,496 
General and administrative costs 21, 22 120,600 114,924 
Commissions and premium taxes  15,613  15,194 
Total claims and expenses 396,584 399,614 

 
Income / (loss) before income taxes (14,375) 14,695 
 
Income tax expense (recovery) (134) 667 
 
Net income (loss) (14,241) 14,028 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Pension plan and post-retirement benefits 
actuarial adjustment 15 4,813 (4,650) 

 
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (9,428) $ 9,378 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PBC HEALTH BENEFITS SOCIETY 
(Operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 
 
    Accumulated 
    other 
   Retained  comprehensive 
  Reserves earnings loss Total 
 
Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 10,000 $ 211,900 $ (17,394) $ 204,506 
 
Net income - 14,028 - 14,028 
 
Other comprehensive loss - - (4,650) (4,650) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2017  10,000  225,928  (22,044)  213,884 
 
Net loss - (14,241) - (14,241) 
 
Other comprehensive income - - 4,813 4,813 
 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 10,000 $ 211,687 $ (17,231) $ 204,456 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PBC HEALTH BENEFITS SOCIETY 
(Operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 
 

    2018 2017 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income (loss) $ (14,241) $ 14,028 
Adjustments for: 

Amortization of property and equipment 3,854 2,609 
Amortization of intangible assets 8,577 8,744 
Impairment on intangible asset - 1,200 
Realized and unrealized gain on investments 15,765 (14,959) 
Amortization of net premiums/discounts on bonds 248 62 
Employee benefits (40,993) 1,645 
Interest expense 1,124 367 
Income tax expense (134) 667 

   (25,800) 14,363 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 

Trade and other receivables  (15,522) (3,774) 
Amounts due from reinsurers  5,292 (12,009) 
Prepaid expenses  (675) 1,148 
Trade and other payables 31,603 (693) 
Insurance liabilities 2,199 7,519 
Write off of property and equipment 409 - 
Members’ dues received in advance 1,445 7 
Restricted cash 1,260 (6) 

  211 6,555 
Interest paid (1,727) (1,006) 
Interest received 959 639 
Income taxes paid (1,037) (335) 
Income taxes recovered 444 284 
  (1,150) 6,137 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Proceeds from sale of investments 76,687 147,032 
Purchase of investments (56,209) (169,829) 
Purchases of property and equipment  (2,130) (12,491) 
Purchases of intangible assets  (2,669) - 
 
  15,679 (35,288) 

 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,529 (29,151) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year (5,541) 23,610 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (bank indebtedness), end of year $ 8,988 $ (5,541) 
 
Represented by: 

Cash (bank indebtedness) $ - $ (19,186) 
Cash equivalents 8,988 13,645 

  $ 8,988 $ (5,541) 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Reporting entity: 

PBC Health Benefits Society (the “Society”) (operating as Pacific Blue Cross) is incorporated and 
governed by the British Columbia Society Act (and licensed under the Financial Institutions Act of 
British Columbia) in Canada. The Society is a not-for-profit organization and is engaged in the 
business of providing extended health and dental benefits to its members. The Society is licensed 
in British Columbia, Alberta, and the Yukon Territory. Through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
British Columbia Life & Casualty Company (“BC Life”), the Society provides life and accidental 
death and dismemberment (“AD&D”) insurance; short-term and long-term disability coverage; 
critical illness coverage; individual life insurance; trip cancellation insurance; and baggage 
insurance. PBC Business Services Ltd. (“PSL”), formally MSA Business Services Ltd., is a wholly-
owned subsidiary and is a holding company used for acquisitions. The address of the registered 
office of the Society, is 4250 Canada Way, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Accounting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).  

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
February 27, 2019. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The Society’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention, with the exception of investments, which are measured at fair value, insurance 
liabilities, which are measured at the present value of expected net cash out flows, and 
employee benefits, which are measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present value 
of the defined benefit obligations. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Society’s 
functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and assumptions: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.  
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2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(d) Use of estimates and assumptions (continued): 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected.  

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes: 

─ Notes 7 and 24: insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets (estimates for losses 
incurred but not reported);  

─ Note 11: intangible assets including goodwill (assumptions underlying 
recoverable amounts);  

─ Note 15:  employee benefits (actuarial assumptions); and 

─ Note 26: investments (valuations based on models or with unobservable inputs). 
 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented. 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

Subsidiary undertakings are entities controlled by the Society. The Society controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing control, the 
Society takes into consideration potential voting rights that are currently exercisable. The 
acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in these consolidated financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The subsidiaries which are 
consolidated in these consolidated financial statements are BC Life and PSL, both of which are 
wholly-owned by the Society. 

The Society has used the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations arising 
on the purchase of subsidiaries. Under this method, the cost of acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of assets given, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition 
directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, deposits held with banks and other 
short-term highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are disclosed net of outstanding cheques. 
Outstanding cheques are cheques that have been issued but are yet to clear at year-end. 

(c) Financial instruments: 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement: 

Financial instruments are required to be classified into one of the following categories: 
amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). All financial instruments are measured at fair value on 
initial recognition. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the 
financial instrument. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount of 
financial instruments except for financial instruments classified as FVTPL in which case 
transaction costs are expensed as incurred.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date, which is 
the date on which the Society becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. The Society derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or expire.  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
net assets only when the Society has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions: 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions: 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement (continued): 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition the Society may irrevocably elect to 
measure financial assets that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL when doing so results in more relevant 
information. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, unless the 
Society changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model. 

The Society has not classified any of its financial assets as FVOCI. 

A financial liability is generally measured at amortized cost, with exceptions that may allow 
for classification as FVTPL. These exceptions include financial liabilities that are 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, such as derivatives liabilities, The 
Society may also, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as 
measured at FVTPL when doing so results in more relevant information. 

(ii) Fair value through profit and loss: 

Financial instruments classified as FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value at each 
reporting period with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they occur. The Society’s investments are classified as 
FVTPL. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives and marketable securities) are based on quoted market prices at the close of 
trading on the reporting date. The Society uses the last traded market price for both 
financial assets and financial liabilities where the last traded price falls within that day’s bid-
ask spread. In circumstances where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, 
the Society determines the point within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of 
fair value based on the specific facts and circumstances. The Society’s policy is to 
recognize transfers into and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event 
or change in circumstances giving rise to the transfer. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 

(ii) Fair value through profit and loss (continued): 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market, 
including non-publicly traded derivative instruments, is determined using valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques also include the use of comparable recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis, and others commonly used by market participants and which make the 
maximum use of observable inputs. Should the value of the financial asset or liability, in 
the opinion of the Society, be inaccurate, unreliable or not readily available, the fair value 
is estimated on the basis of the most recently reported information of a similar financial 
asset or liability. 

(iii) Amortized cost: 

Financial assets and liabilities classified as amortized cost are recognized initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. The Society 
classifies cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, amounts due from reinsurers, trade 
and other receivables, bank indebtedness, trade and other payables and members’ dues 
received in advance as amortized cost.  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset or liability and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Property and equipment: 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses. Property and equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are 
events or changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
assets. 

Amortization is recognized in net income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of each part of an item of property or equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The amortization 
terms are as follows: 
 
Asset  Terms 
 
Furniture and equipment  3 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements Over the terms of related leases 
 

 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. If any such 
condition exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of impairment and the difference is charged to net income. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

(e) Goodwill and intangible assets: 

(i) Goodwill: 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Society’s share of the 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill has an indefinite life. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Goodwill and intangible assets (continued): 

(ii) Intangible assets: 

Computer software and IT development costs are costs recognized as intangible assets 
that are directly associated with the purchase and development of identifiable and unique 
software products and that are anticipated to generate economic benefits exceeding costs 
beyond one year. Costs include external consultants’ fees, certain qualifying internal staff 
costs and other costs incurred to develop software programs. These costs are amortized 
over their estimated useful life on a straight-line basis subject to impairment. Other non-
qualifying costs, including the maintenance of computer software programs are expensed 
as incurred. 

Customer relationships acquired are recorded at fair value on initial recognition and 
amortized over their estimated useful life on a straight-line basis subject to impairment. The 
amortization terms are as follows: 
 
Intangible assets  Terms 
 
Computer software  1 to 10 years 
IT development costs  10 years 
Customer relationships  15 years 
 

 
(iii) Impairment: 

At each reporting date, the Society reviews the carrying value of its goodwill and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”). Goodwill arising from a business 
combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGUs is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGUs. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Goodwill and intangible assets (continued): 

(iii) Impairment (continued): 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGUs exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGUs, and then to 
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGUs on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized. 

(f) Insurance contracts: 

Contracts under which the Society accepts significant insurance risk from members by 
agreeing to compensate the member or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event 
(the insured event) that adversely affects the member or other beneficiaries are classified as 
insurance contracts. Once a contract is classified as an insurance contract it remains classified 
as an insurance contract until all rights and obligations are extinguished or expire. Contracts 
under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Society from the member is not significant are 
classified as investment contracts. 

Insurance liabilities represent the amounts needed to provide for the estimated ultimate 
expected cost of settling claims related to insured events (both reported and unreported) that 
have occurred on or before each balance sheet date. Insurance contract liabilities are 
presented gross of reinsurance assets in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
Insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance assets, have been determined using the 
Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”). 

CALM is a widely accepted actuarial technique, which uses projections, based on past 
experience of the development of claims over time, to form a view of the likely ultimate claims 
to be experienced. 

(g) Reinsurance ceded: 

The Society cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its 
net loss potential through the transferal of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do not relieve 
the Society from its direct obligations to its policyholders. Assets, liabilities and income and 
expenses arising from ceded reinsurance contracts are presented separately from the related 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses from the related insurance contracts. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Reinsurance ceded (continued): 

Only reinsurance agreements that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are 
accounted for as reinsurance contracts. Amounts recoverable under such contracts are 
recognized in the same year as the related claim. 

Reinsurance premiums for ceded reinsurance are recognized as an expense over the period 
that the reinsurance cover is provided based on the expected pattern of the reinsured risks. 
The unexpensed portion of ceded insurance premiums is included in reinsurance assets. 

Reinsurance assets are measured on a basis that is consistent with the measurement of the 
provisions held in respect of the related insurance contracts. Reinsurance assets include 
recoveries due from reinsurance companies in respect of claims paid and are recorded within 
amounts due from reinsurers on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently 
when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. Such assets are deemed 
impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its initial 
recognition, that the Society may not recover all amounts due under the terms of the contract 
and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Society will receive 
from the reinsurer. The impairment is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Reinsurance assets and liabilities are derecognized when the contractual rights are 
extinguished or expire when the contract is transferred to another party. 

(h) Revenue recognition: 

(i) Premium revenue: 

Insurance premiums are included in premium revenue on a pro-rata basis over the terms 
of the underlying insurance policies. Members’ dues received in advance represent the 
portion of premiums written that relate to the unexpired term of the policies in force and 
represent liabilities of the Society. Insurance premiums are shown before deduction of 
commissions and are gross of any taxes and dues levied on premiums. 

(ii) Fees from self-insured plans: 

Fees from self-insured plans are from Administrative Services Only (“ASO”) administration 
contracts. The Society manages the benefits of client employees on behalf of clients for a 
service fee. These fees are recognized when services are rendered and the amount can 
be reasonably estimated. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(iii) Investment income: 

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis. Dividend income is recognized on the 
date that the right to receive payment is established, which for quoted equity securities is 
usually the ex-dividend date. Portfolio transactions are recorded on the trade date. 
Realized gains and losses arising from the sale of investments are determined on the 
average cost basis of the respective investments. 

(iv) Commissions earned from reinsurers: 

Commissions earned from reinsurance ceded are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the 
terms of the underlying related insurance policy. 

(v) Fees and other income: 

Fees and other income includes other non-insurance related billings for client services, 
gain or loss on foreign exchange and miscellaneous income. Fees and other income are 
recognized as revenue over the period that the related service is provided. 

(i) Post-employment benefits: 

The Society operates several post-employment benefit schemes, including defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans. In addition, certain employees participate in a multi-employer 
defined contribution pension plan. 

Defined contribution plans: 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and prior reporting periods. Obligations for defined 
contribution pension plans are determined by the amounts to be contributed and recognized 
as an expense in comprehensive income when they are due in respect of service rendered 
before the end of the reporting period.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Post-employment benefits (continued): 

Defined benefit plans: 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 
The Society’s net obligation in respect of defined benefits plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of any plan 
assets. It is calculated periodically by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated separately for each 
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for service 
in the current and prior periods and discounting that benefit to determine its present value using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on high-quality corporate bonds. 

The Society recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial 
assumptions and experience adjustments immediately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Past service costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining 
in service for a specified period of time (the “vesting period”). In this case, the past service 
costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

(j) Foreign currency translations: 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the prevailing 
exchange rates applicable to the period in which the transactions take place and where the 
Society considers these to be a reasonable approximation of the transaction rate. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
translation at the period end of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Non-
monetary items recorded at historical cost in foreign currencies are translated using the 
exchange rate on the date of the initial transaction. 

(k) Income tax: 

The Society is registered under the Income Tax Act as a not-for-profit society and, as such, is 
exempt from income tax. BC Life, and PSL, however, are subject to federal and provincial 
income taxes. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Income tax (continued): 

The Society follows the deferred method of accounting for income taxes whereby current 
income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable for the current period. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the cumulative amount of tax applicable to 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, and their 
values for tax purposes.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. Changes in deferred income taxes related to a change 
in tax rates are recognized in income in the period of the tax rate change. All deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized in the normal course of operations.  

(l) Leases: 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in net income on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance 
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each 
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for in the period in which they are incurred. 

(m) New standards issued but not yet effective: 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet 
effective for the year ended December 31, 2018 and have not been applied in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements. The following standards will have significant effect on the 
Society’s consolidated financial statements. 

(i) IFRS 16, Leases: 

IFRS 16 specifies how to recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard 
provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of assets and liabilities 
for all leases, unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. IFRS 16 will be effective for the Society’s year beginning January 1, 2019. The 
Society plans to adopt IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method and expects to 
record right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all qualifying lease contracts on the 
transition date of $42,463.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(m) New standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

(ii) IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts: 

IFRS 17 changes the basis of measuring insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will be effective for 
the Society’s year beginning January 1, 2021. The standard will impact the classification 
and measurement of insurance liabilities and premiums. The Society has developed a 
project plan to assess the impact of this standard on its operations and financial reporting 
and is currently working through the initial phases of the plan, which focus on project 
governance and identification of business impacts. 

 

4. Changes in accounting policies: 

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: 

The Society has adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The standard became effective for the 
Society on January 1, 2018. The Society has adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively with an initial 
application date of January 1, 2017. The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change 
from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 specifies the 
accounting for financial instruments, including: classification and measurement, impairment 
and hedge accounting. The Society does not apply hedge accounting. 

The nature and effects of the key changes to the Society’s accounting policy are summarized 
below.  

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities: 

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortized cost, FVOCI and FVTPL. The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its 
contractual cash flow characteristics. The Society may also, at initial recognition, 
irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL when doing so results in 
more relevant information. IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held to 
maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale.  

A financial liability is generally measured at amortized cost, with exceptions that may allow 
for classification as FVTPL. These exceptions include financial liabilities that are 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, such as derivatives liabilities, The 
Society may also, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as 
measured at FVTPL when doing so results in more relevant information. 

33



PBC HEALTH BENEFITS SOCIETY 
(Operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 

18 

4. Changes in accounting policies (continued): 

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued): 

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued): 

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not result in any measurement differences in the Society’s 
financial assets and liabilities as at the transition date. The following table shows the 
original classification and measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new classification 
and measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Society’s financial assets 
and financial liabilities as at January 1, 2017.  
 
 Original New 
 Classification Classification 
 under under 
 IAS 39 IFRS 9 
 
Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Restricted cash Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Investments FVTPL FVTPL 
Amounts due from reinsurers Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

 
Financial liabilities 

Bank indebtedness Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
Trade and other payables Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
Members’ dues received in advance Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

 

 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets: 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. 
As the Society measures its investments at FVTPL and holds only short-term financial 
assets at amortized cost, the impairment requirements under the new standard do not 
impact the Society.  

(b) IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers: 

The Society has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers with a date of initial 
application of January 1, 2018. The requirements of IFRS 15 represent a change from IAS 18 
Revenue. 

The Society has applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method. However, on adoption of 
IFRS 15, the Society’s did not recognize any changes in revenue recognition and accordingly, 
no transition adjustments were required. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies (continued): 

(b) IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued): 

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and 
when revenue is recognized. The framework specifies that revenue should be recognized when 
(or as) an entity transfers goods or services to a customer measured at the amount to which 
the entity expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is 
recognized over time, in a manner that depicts the entity’s performance, or at a point in time, 
when control of the goods is transferred or performance of services is rendered to the 
customers. 

The Society provides claims processing and administrative services to its clients as contracted 
under service agreements. The transaction price for performance obligations are determined 
as a percentage of the insurance claim value processed, a fixed fee per period or a fixed fee 
per member per period. Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied over 
time or when services are rendered.  

 

5. Restricted cash: 

Restricted cash represents amounts held in escrow for contingent consideration related to a 
business acquisition made in a prior year. The amount as at year ended December 31, 2018 is nil 
($1,260 – 2017).  

 

6. Investments: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Fixed income securities $ 64,696 $ 60,445 
Fixed income pooled funds 144,717 189,545 
Equity Securities 69,695 71,444 
Equity pooled funds 47,816 49,717 
Real estate pooled funds 70,061 62,924 
 
Total investments $ 396,985 $ 434,075 
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7. Insurance liabilities: 

(a) Nature and valuation of unpaid claims: 

The expenditures on members' claims include an estimate for services performed and claims 
incurred but which have not been reported (“IBNR”) to or processed by the Society.  

The incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) amount is based on estimates calculated using widely 
accepted actuarial techniques. The techniques use projections, based on past experience of 
the development of claims over time, to form a view on the likely ultimate claims to be 
experienced. For more recent underwriting years, regard is given to the variations in the 
business portfolio accepted and the underlying terms and conditions. Thus, the critical 
assumptions used when estimating provisions are that past experience is a reasonable 
predictor of likely future claims development and that the rating and business portfolio 
assumptions are a fair reflection of the likely level of ultimate claims to be incurred for the more 
recent years. 

Net insurance contract liabilities are based on the results of an actuarial valuation performed 
in accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”) using 
data supplied by the Society. The actual amount of the Society's liabilities with respect to IBNR 
and open claims cannot be determined until all claims have been submitted and processed. 

Although the Society is liable for the full amount of claims filed by its members, it mitigates its 
exposure to significant claims by entering into contracts with reinsurers. It is not possible to 
determine the amount by which actual settlements and amounts recoverable from reinsurers 
will differ from amounts reserved. 

An analysis of movements in insurance liabilities is as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 189,030 $ 181,511 
Normal business changes 1,519 6,604 
 
Change in retention: 

Changes in assumptions: 
Interest rate (59) 100 
Oher assumptions 739  815 

 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 191,229 $ 189,030 
 
Current $ 68,186 $ 65,002 
Non-current 123,043 124,028 
 
  $ 191,229 $ 189,030 
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7. Insurance liabilities (continued): 

(b) Reinsurers share of insurance liabilities: 

The change in amounts recoverable from reinsurers is set out below: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 96,809 $ 89,517 
Normal business changes (2,891) 7,154 
 
Changes due to retention: 

Changes in assumptions:   
Interest rate (34) 79 
Other assumptions 2,216  59 

 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 96,100 $ 96,809 
 
Current $ 25,133 $ 24,095 
Non-current 70,967 72,714 
 
  $ 96,100 $ 96,809 
 
The Society has guidelines and a review process in place to ascertain the creditworthiness of 
the companies to which it cedes insurance. The Society cedes a portion of its business to 
registered reinsurers. No information has come to the Society’s attention indicating weakness 
or failure of any of its current reinsurers; consequently, no provision has been made in the 
accounts for doubtful collection. 

 

8. Trade and other receivables: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Accounts receivable - Insured $ 15,363 $ 13,762 
Accounts receivable - ASO 40,525 28,869 
Accounts receivable - Other 6,011 4,034 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (115) (403) 
 
  $ 61,784 $ 46,262 
 
Current $ 60,689 $ 45,151 
Non-current 1,095 1,111 
 
  $ 61,784 $ 46,262 
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8. Trade and other receivables (continued): 

Accounts receivable - Insured relates to premiums and other receivables due from insurance 
contracts.  

Accounts receivable - ASO includes the recovery of claims and fees receivable related to self-
insured plans.  

 

9. Other assets: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Deferred tax assets $ 635 $ 515 
Current tax receivable 166 - 
Prepaid expenses 4,213 3,538 
 

  $ 5,014 $ 4,053 
 

10. Property and equipment: 
 
  Leasehold Furniture and 
  improvements equipment Total 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018: 
 
Cost: 

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 22,337 $ 26,257 $ 48,594 
Additions  2,130 2,130 
Write-off (409) - (409) 
Disposals - - - 

 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 21,928 $ 28,387 $ 50,315 
 
Accumulated amortization: 

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ (6,647) $ (16,849) $ (23,496) 
Current year charge  (712) (3,140) (3,852) 
Disposals - - - 

 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ (7,359) $ (19,989) $ (27,348) 
 
Net book value $ 14,569 $ 8,398 $ 22,967 
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10. Property and equipment (continued): 

During 2018, the Society acquired equipment with a carrying value of $180(2017 - $3,400) with a 
portion of the cost financed under a finance lease. 
 
  Leasehold Furniture and 
  improvements equipment Total 
 
Year ended December 31, 2017: 
 
Cost: 

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ 15,191 $ 20,912 $ 36,103 
Additions 7,146 5,345 12,491 
Disposals  - - - 

 
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 22,337 $ 26,257 $ 48,594 
 
Accumulated amortization: 

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ (6,093) $ (14,794) $ (20,887) 
Current year charge  (554) (2,055) (2,609) 
Disposals - - - 

 
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ (6,647) $ (16,849) $ (23,496) 
 
Net book value $ 15,690 $ 9,408 $ 25,098 
 

11. Goodwill and intangible assets: 
 
  IT Computer Customer 
  development software relationships Goodwill Total 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018: 
 
Cost: 

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 75,504 $ 23,069 $ 4,860 $ 1,434 $ 104,867 
Additions - 2,669 - - 2,669 
Disposals - - - - - 
Impairments - - - - - 
 

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 75,504 $ 25,738 $ 4,860 $ 1,434 $ 107,536 
 
Accumulated amortization: 

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ (34,763) $ (17,355) $ (1,050) $ - $ (53,168) 
Current year charge (6,443) (1,819) (317) - (8,579) 
Disposals - - - - - 
 

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ (41,206) $ (19,174) $ (1,367) $ - $ (61,747) 
 
Net book value $ 34,298 $ 6,564 $ 3,493 $ 1,434 $ 45,789 
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11. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued): 
 
  IT Computer Customer 
  development software relationships Goodwill Total 
 
Year ended December 31, 2017: 
 
Cost: 

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ 75,504 $ 23,068 $ 4,860 $ 2,634 $ 106,066 
Additions - 95 - - 95 
Disposals - (94) - - (94) 
Impairment - - - (1,200) (1,200) 
 

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 75,504 $ 23,069 $ 4,860 $ 1,434 $ 104,867 
 
Accumulated amortization: 

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ (28,320) $ (15,372) $ (732) $ - $ (44,424) 
Current year charge (6,443) (1,983) (318) - (8,744) 
Disposals - - - - - 
 

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ (34,763) $ (17,355) $ (1,050) $ - $ (53,168) 
 
Net book value $ 40,741 $ 5,714 $ 3,810 $ 1,434 $ 51,699 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Based on an assessment of the business unit’s value 
in use, as at December 31, 2018, management has determined that no goodwill impairment has 
arisen (2017 - goodwill impairment of $1,200). 

The business unit’s value in use is calculated using projected cash flows based on financial budgets 
approved by management and taking into account expected growth rates and future market 
conditions. A discount rate of 17% (2017 – 15%) has been used to discount the projected cash 
flows. The discount rate reflects the Society’s expected return on equity and cost of borrowing and 
is considered representative of the rate appropriate to the risk specific to the Society. 

Included in the carrying amount of intangible assets as at the year ended December 31, 2018 is 
$1,434 (2017 - $2,634) related to goodwill that arose from a business acquisition.  
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12. Trade and other payables: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Due to clients $ 79,891 $ 76,348 
Client deposits 101,367 67,319 
Trade 32,937 45,124 
Reinsurance 2,982 4,734 
Payroll 2,786 3,948 
Other 250 370 
 

  $ 220,213 $ 188,912 
 
Current $ 211,398 $ 179,981 
Non-current 8,815 8,931 
 

  $ 220,213 $ 188,912 
 
Due to clients represents refunds due to experience rated benefits. In addition, certain ASO 
contracts pay estimated claims in advance. Included in due to clients are amounts received in 
excess of actual claim payments. 

Client deposits are related to ASO contracts and are provided to cover a short-fall on funds owed 
for prior month claims. 

 

13. Members’ dues received in advance: 

Members’ dues received in advance are premiums for annual policies that have been received but 
have not been fully earned at the statement of financial position date. They are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period to which coverage is in force.  

At year-end, the split between travel plans and health plans was as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Travel plans $ 6,608 $ 6,058 
Health plans 6,334 5,439 
 

  $ 12,942 $ 11,497 
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14. Finance lease liabilities: 

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows: 
 
   Present value 
   Future minimum  of minimum 
   lease payments   Interest   lease payments 
  2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 
Less than  

one year $ 272 $ 422 $ 67 $ 90 $ 206 $ 332 
Between one and  

five years 729 1,076 67 158 662 918 
 

  $ 1,001 $ 1,498 $ 133 $ 248 $ 868 $ 1,250 
 

15. Employee benefits: 

(a) Employee benefit plans information: 

The Society sponsors a contributory defined benefit plan and retirement compensation 
agreement plan for eligible management employees and a contributory defined contribution 
plan for eligible hourly and management employees. Certain employees participate in a multi-
employer defined contribution plan. Contributions made by the Society for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 was $30 (2017 - $110). 

In addition to its pension plans, the Society also provides certain post-employment health and 
dental benefits to eligible employees and dependents upon meeting certain requirements. 
These post-employment benefits are currently not funded. 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits are as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Cash payments to: 

Beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment  
benefit plans $ 633 $ 1,096 

Retirement compensation agreement plan 268 286 
Defined contribution plans 2,496 2,304 
Defined benefit pension plan  29 29 

 

  $ 3,426 $ 3,715 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(a) Employee benefit plans information (continued): 

The Society measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for 
accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of 
the pension plans for funding purposes was at December 31, 2016, and the next required 
valuation will be as of December 31, 2019. 

Effective October 1, 2018, the Society transferred its post-employee benefits to a newly formed 
joint trust administered by trustees nominated by the Society and its union employees 
(the “Joint Trust”). 

The benefit obligation of $44,108 was transferred to the Joint Trust. The Society transferred 
investments of an equal value in settlement of this benefit obligation. 

Following settlement of this transfer, the Society will continue to make its employee 
contributions to the Joint Trust as set forth by the trustees of the Joint Trust. 

Furthermore, in accordance with the Agreement and Declaration of Trust of the Joint Trust, the 
Society has agreed to fully fund any deficit existing on the Joint Trust as at its first actuarial 
valuation date subsequent to the transfer and settlement of the Joint Trust. The first actuarial 
valuation of the Joint Trust may not occur any earlier than three years after October 1, 2018. 
The Society is permitted to fund the deficit amount over a period of up to five years from the 
date of the first actuarial valuation. 

As at December 31, 2018, it is estimated that the Joint Trust has an accumulated deficit of 
$207.  
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(a) Employee benefit plans information (continued): 

Information regarding the defined benefit plans and post-employment benefits for the year 
ended December 31, 2018, as follows: 
 
   Retirement Total Post- 
  Pension compensation defined employment Total 
  plan agreement pension plan benefits 2018 
 
Change in benefit obligation: 

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 4,083 $ 4,151 $ 8,234 $ 53,871 $ 62,105 
Actuarial (gains) losses from financial  

adjustments (171) (161) (332) (4,096) (4,428) 
Actuarial (gains) losses from  

experience adjustments (87) (678) (765) 740 (25) 
Interest cost 143 147 290 1,955 2,245 
Current service cost 13 - 13 1,221 1,234 
Benefits paid (314) (268) (582) (633) (1,215) 
Transfer of benefit obligation - - - (44,108) (44,108) 

 
Benefit obligation, end of year 3,667 3,191 6,858 8,623 15,481 
 
Change in plan assets: 

Fair value of plan assets, 
beginning of year 4,369 - 4,369 - 4,369 

Interest cost  154 - 154 - 154 
Return on plan assets (excluding  

amount included in net  
interest expense) (360) - (360) - (360) 

Employer contributions 29 268 297 633 930 
Benefits paid  (314) (268) (582) (633) (1,215) 

 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 3,878 - 3,878 - 3,878 
 
Net asset (obligation)  $ 211 $ (3,191) $ (2,980) $ (8,950) $ (11,930) 
 
Amounts recognized in  

net income: 
Current service cost $ 13 $ - $ 13 $ 1,221 $ 1,234 
Interest cost 143 147 290 1,955 2,245 

  156 147 303 3,176 3,479 
 
Amounts recognized in OCI: 

Return on plan assets (excluding  
amount included in 
interest expense) (360) - (360) - (360) 

Actuarial (gains) losses from financial 
adjustments (171) (161) (332) (4,096) (4,428) 

Actuarial (gains) losses from experience 
adjustments (87) (678) (765) 740 (25) 

  (618) (839) (1,457) (3,356) (4,813) 
 
Net change $ (462) $ (692) $ (1,154) $ (180) $ (1,334) 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(a) Employee benefit plans information (continued): 

Information regarding the defined benefit plans and post-employment benefits for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 follows: 
 
   Retirement Total Post- 
  Pension compensation defined employment Total 
  plan agreement pension plan benefits 2017 
 
Change in benefit obligation: 

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 4,251 $ 4,538 $ 8,789 $ 46,850 $ 55,639 
Actuarial (gains) losses from financial  

adjustments 169 200 369 4,795 5,164 
Actuarial (gains) losses from  

experience adjustments (198) (481) (679) 335 (344) 
Interest cost 168 180 348 1,921 2,269 
Current service cost 37 - 37 1,066 1,103 
Benefits paid (344) (286) (630) (1,096) (1,726) 

 
Benefit obligation, end of year 4,083 4,151 8,234 53,871 62,105 
 
Change in plan assets: 

Fair value of plan assets, 
beginning of year 4,342 - 4,342 - 4,342 

Interest cost  172 - 172 - 172 
Return on plan assets (excluding  

amount included in net  
interest expense) 170 - 170 - 170 

Employer contributions 29 286 315 1,096 1,411 
Benefits paid  (344) (286) (630) (1,096) (1,726) 

 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 4,369 - 4,369 - 4,369 
 
Net asset (obligation)  $ 286 $ (4,151) $ (3,865) $ (53,871) $ (57,736) 
 
Amounts recognized in  

net income: 
Current service cost $ 37 $ - $ 37 $ 1,066 $ 1,103 
Interest cost (4) 180 176 1,921 2,097 

  33 180 213 2,987 3,200 
 
Amounts recognized in OCI: 

Return on plan assets (excluding  
amount included in 
interest expense) (170) - (170) - (170) 

Actuarial (gains) losses from financial 
adjustments 169 200 369 4,795 5,164 

Actuarial (gains) losses from  
experience adjustments (198) (481) (679) 335 (344) 

  (199) (281) (480) 5,130 4,650 
 
Net change $ (166) $ (101) $ (267) $ 8,117 $ 7,850 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Employee benefits risks: 

A defined benefit plan can expose the Society to risks. The most significant such risks for the 
Society are: 

(i) Investment risk - the present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a 
discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields. If the return 
on plan assets is below this yield, it will create a plan deficit. Due to the long-term nature 
of the plan liabilities, the Society considers it appropriate to invest a reasonable proportion 
of the plan assets in equity investments to leverage the return generated by the fund. 

(ii) Interest risk - a decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the plan’s liabilities. 
However, this will be partially offset by an increase in value of the assets of the plan held 
in bonds.  

(iii) Longevity risk - an increase in the life expectancy of the plan members will increase the 
plan’s liability.  

The Society is responsible for the governance of the defined benefit plans, including setting the 
investment policy for the assets of the fund, and ensuring that the defined benefit plans are 
administered in line with legal and regulatory requirements and respective plan text.  

The expected contributions for 2019 are $29 (2018 - $29). The duration of the defined pension 
plan obligation has been estimated as 9 years (2017 – 10 years). The duration of the post-
employment benefits obligation has been estimated as 19 years (2017 – 19 years). 

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the pension plan assets were invested in balanced funds. 

(c) Significant assumptions: 

Weighted average assumptions as at December 31 are as follows: 
 
  2018   2017  
  Post-  Post- 
 Pension employment Pension employment 
 plan benefits plan benefits 
 
Discount rate 4.15% 4.15% 3.65 % 3.65 % 
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a 1.50 % n/a 
Rate of medical cost trend n/a 4.25% n/a 4.25 % 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(c) Significant assumptions (continued): 

The overall expected rate of return on the assets is determined based on market expectations 
applicable to the period over which the obligation is settled. 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with 
published studies in Canada. These assumptions translate into an average life expectancy in 
years of a pensioner retiring at age 65: 
 
Retiring at December 31 2018 2017 
 
Male 22 22 
Female 24 24 
 
 
 
Retiring 20 years after December 31 2018 2017 
 
Male 23 23 
Female 25 25 
 

 
(d) Sensitivity analysis: 

The method and assumptions used to generate the sensitivity analysis below are the same as 
those used to determine the obligation, with the exception of the assumption amended to 
produce the sensitivity analysis. In practice, it is unlikely that only one assumption will change 
at a time as the assumptions are related.  

The following table sets out the expected change in benefit obligation resulting from a change 
in assumptions: 
 
    Pension plan     Post-employment benefits  
  2018 2017 2018 2017 
 
Discount rate: 

1% increase $ (305) $ (752) $ (1,139) $ (8,978) 
1% decrease 356 885 1,433                            11,725 
 

Medical cost: 
1% increase - - 1,214 10,988 
1% decrease - - (988) (8,618) 
 

Mortality rate: 
10% increase (86) (195) (278) (1,682) 
10% decrease 95 213  313 1,893  
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16. Reserves: 

An internally restricted fund has been set aside for future funding of a foundation. The funds will be 
forwarded to a foundation to be established by the Society at a future date as determined by the 
Society’s Board of Directors. 

 

17. Commitments: 

The Society has commitments for operating leases relating to property, equipment and contracts 
for software development. Future minimum annual payments are as follows: 
 
 
Within one year  $ 11,960 
Two to five years  16,425 
Over five years  48,460 
 

 
The Society’s bank has issued letters of credit for pension obligations and other employment 
contracts in the amount of $7,508 (2017 - $8,843). 

The Society leases the land and building under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The 
lease expires in November 2028. The lease also covers the operating costs of 4250 Canada Way, 
Burnaby, British Columbia. The lease expenditure charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income during the year is $4,263 (2017 - $4,244). 

 

18. Contingencies: 

During the normal course of operations, legal proceedings may arise from time to time against the 
Society from insurance claimants. The Society has policies and procedures in place concerning its 
claims adjudication procedures. Management has reviewed outstanding legal matters pending as 
at December 31, 2018. As of the date of these financial statements, the outcome of these 
proceedings cannot be reasonably estimated. Therefore, no amounts have been recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

19. Billings processed: 

Billings processed consist of premium revenue from insurance contracts, fees from self-insured 
plans and claims paid on self-insured plans. Claims paid on self-insured plans represent payments 
made on behalf of clients and are not recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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20. Investment income: 

Investment income is comprised as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Investment income earned on: 

Fixed income securities and fixed income pooled funds $ 6,826 $ 5,779 
Equity securities and equity pooled funds  5,990  5,189 
Real estate pooled funds 1,723 2,802 
Cash equivalents 522 618 
  15,061 14,388 

Unrealized gain (loss): 
Fixed income securities and fixed income pooled funds (322) 2,831 
Equity securities and equity pooled funds (18,930) 9,673 
Real estate pooled funds 5,360 970 
  (13,892) 13,474 

Realized gain (loss): 
Fixed income securities and fixed income pooled funds (2,644) (2,225) 
Equity securities and equity pooled funds 771 3,710 
  (1,873) 1,485 

 
Investment expenses (1,163) (749) 
Interest paid to plans (1,727) (1,006) 
  (2,890) (1,755) 
 
Total investment income (loss) $ (3,594) $ 27,592 
 

21. General and administrative costs: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Salaries (note 22) $ 48,605 $ 45,980 
Consulting fees and professional services  19,801 15,867 
Benefits (note 22) 16,137 19,631 
Amortization of intangible assets 8,579 9,944 
Information technology 5,854 5,052 
Occupancy 4,796 4,827 
Advertising and promotion 3,820 3,111 
Amortization of property and equipment 3,844 2,609 
Miscellaneous 3,358 2,087 
GST 1,747 1,779 
Postage, delivery and storage 1,338 1,466 
Dues and subscriptions 1,223 900 
Telephone 792 844 
Stationery and supplies 707 827 
 

  $ 120,600 $ 114,924 
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22. Related party transactions: 

Related parties of the Society include subsidiaries, retirement benefit plans, key management 
personnel, and close family members of key management personnel and entities which are 
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced or for which significant voting power is held 
by key management personnel or their close family members. 

The Society considers key management personnel to be the Board of Directors, Executive and 
Leadership group. 
 
Key management compensation 2018 2017 
 
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits $ 6,062 $ 8,348 
Post-employment benefits 562 775 
Other long-term benefits 211 158 
 

 

23. Funds held on behalf of members: 

As at December 31, 2018, $54,155 (2017 - $52,920) was held on behalf of administrative services 
only groups to fund future claims and expenses. These funds are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Society as they do not meet the definition of an asset of the Society. 

Any interest earned on these funds is for the benefit of the administrative services only groups. 
 

24. Insurance risk management: 

(a) Managing insurance risk: 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and 
provisioning, the principal risk that the Society faces under its insurance contracts is that the 
actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This 
could occur because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits is greater than estimated. 
Insurance events are random, and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will 
vary from year-to-year from the level established using statistical techniques. 

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the 
relative variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio 
is less likely to be affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Society has 
developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted 
and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce 
the variability of the expected outcome. 
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24. Insurance risk management (continued): 

(a) Managing insurance risk (continued): 

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of the type and 
amount of risk, the geographical location and the type of industry covered. 

The products offered by the Society present low risk as the main product lines are yearly 
renewable products, usually with rate guarantees of 12-months on renewal. 

The insurance contract liabilities comprise provision for IBNR, provision for reported claims not 
yet paid and direct expenses in settling claims. The Society takes reasonable steps to ensure 
that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the 
uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely the final outcome will be different from 
the original liability established. 

Long-term disability, short-term disability and life contracts: 

The most significant component for long-term and short-term disability contracts are rates of 
morbidity. The most significant component for life insurance contracts is mortality.  

At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by 
the Society. However, undue concentration could have an impact on the severity of benefit 
payments on a portfolio basis. The risk of death or disability will vary by industry. Undue 
concentration of risk by industry will therefore increase the risk of a change in the underlying 
average mortality or morbidity of employees in a given industry, with significant effects on the 
overall insurance risk. 

Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the 
industry. Historical data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry will increase 
the number of claims for disability benefits as well as reduce the rate of recovery from disability. 
The Society attempts to manage this risk through its underwriting, claims handling and 
reinsurance policy. The amount of disability benefit cover provided per individual is restricted 
to a maximum of 75% of the individual’s monthly income. Excess of loss reinsurance contracts 
have been purchased by the Society to limit the maximum loss on any one life to $250 for life 
insurance contracts. 

The Society charges for morbidity risk on a monthly basis for all insurance contracts. It has the 
right to alter these charges annually based on its morbidity experience and hence minimize its 
exposure to morbidity risk. Delays in implementing increases in charges and market restraints 
over the extent of the increase may reduce its mitigating effect. 
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24. Insurance risk management (continued): 

(a) Managing insurance risk (continued): 

Long-term disability, short-term disability and life contracts (continued): 

The underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified 
in terms of type of risk and the level of insured benefits. The Society balances morbidity risk 
across its portfolio, has reinsurance on any single life insured, reinsures the excess of the 
insured benefit over risks under an excess of loss reinsurance arrangement and has 
reinsurance in place for morbidity risk. 

Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments for long-term disability insurance 
contracts arises from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of morbidity. 
For incurred long-term disability claims, it is necessary to estimate the rates of recovery from 
disability for future years. Standard industry recovery tables and CIA tables are modified for 
the actual experience of the Society. The influence of economic circumstances on the actual 
recovery rate for individual contracts is a source of uncertainty for these estimates. 

Extended healthcare and dental contracts: 

These contracts are mainly issued to employers to insure their commitments to their employees 
in terms of employee benefit plans. The risk is affected by the nature of the industry in which 
the employer operates and the risk of claims varies by industry and plan design. 

Insurance risk under these plans is dependent on the claiming patterns of the covered 
employee. The Society underwrites these plans with premiums set for a 12-month period which 
permits premium adjustment on an annual basis. The Society reinsures out of country claims 
over a certain dollar threshold with various reinsurers. 

Claims risk is controlled by means of pre-authorization of claims, benefit limits and fee 
schedules. The specific processes used would vary by group depending on plan arrangements. 
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24. Insurance risk management (continued): 

(b) Policy assumptions: 

The Society’s valuation methods involve the use of best estimates for the following significant 
assumptions: mortality, morbidity, expenses, investment yields and provision for adverse 
deviation.  

(i) Mortality: 

The mortality assumption varies by type of contract and is based on the Society’s aggregate 
experience or on industry experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if 
appropriate. 

(ii) Morbidity: 

The rate of morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sickness, and the termination of 
disability due to death or recovery. This assumption is based on the Society’s aggregate 
experience or industry experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if 
appropriate. 

(iii) Expenses: 

Amounts are included in insurance liabilities to provide for the cost of administering incurred 
claims. Where applicable, allowances for future expenses are based on Society experience 
projected into the future with an allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield. 

(iv) Investment yields: 

The amount and timing of cash flows arising from both the insurance liabilities and the assets 
supporting them are projected. These cash flows are combined with reinvestment rates, 
derived from the current economic outlook and the Society’s investment policy, to establish 
expected rates of return for all future years, including reasonable provisions for asset default. 

(v) Provision for adverse deviation: 

A margin is included in each assumption to recognize the uncertainty in establishing best 
estimate assumptions, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater 
comfort that insurance liabilities are adequate to pay future benefits. A range of allowable 
margins is prescribed by the CIA. As the experience of future accounting periods emerges, any 
provision not required to cover adverse deviations will be included in income for that period. 
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24. Insurance risk management (continued): 

(c) Sensitivity to assumption changes: 

The tables below show the sensitivity of net income if the significant assumptions were to 
change independently of each other without management action. 

(i) Long-term disability insurance contracts:
 
 
  Change in  Change in net income  
Variable variable 2018 2017 
 
Morbidity +5% $ (1,058) $ (1,095) 
Morbidity -5% 1,024 1,058 
Expenses +5% (185) (146) 
Expenses -5% 185 146  
 
 

(ii) Short-term disability insurance contracts: 
 
  Change in  Change in net income  
Variable variable 2018 2017 
 
Morbidity +5% (128) (83) 
Morbidity -5% 128 83 
Expenses +5% (4) (3) 
Expenses -5% 4 3 
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(c) Sensitivity to assumption changes (continued): 

(iii) Life insurance contracts: 

 
  emocni ten ni egnahC  ni egnahC  

Variable variable 2018 2017 
 
Mortality 
Mortality 462 
Morbidity (128) (111) 
Morbidity 109 
Expenses (34) (33) 
Expenses 34  33 
 

 

(iv) Extended healthcare and dental contracts: 
 

 
  emocni ten ni egnahC  ni egnahC  

Variable variable 2018 2017 

Morbidity 
Morbidity 989 
Expenses (36) (34) 
Expenses 36 34  
 

 
(d) Concentration of insurance risk: 

All insurance risk exposures of the Society are geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 
The Society’s insurance liabilities by contracts are shown below. 
 

As at December 31, 2018 liabilities assets liabilities 
 
Long-term disability insurance 
Short term disability insurance 

 196,71 271,3 368,02 stcartnoc ecnarusni efiL
Extended healthcare and dental contracts   19,171  -  19,171 

 

Total 
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24. Insurance risk management (continued): 

(d) Concentration of insurance risk (continued): 
 
 Gross Reinsurance Net 
As at December 31, 2017 liabilities assets liabilities 
 
Long-term disability insurance contracts $ 147,925 $ 93,653 $ 54,272 
Short term disability insurance contracts 2,584 296 2,288 
Life insurance contracts 18,748 2,861 15,887 
Extended healthcare and dental contracts 19,773  -  19,773 
 

Total $ 189,030 $ 96,810 $ 92,220 
 

25. Financial instrument risk management: 

The Society’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set 
appropriate risk tolerance limits, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits through the 
maintenance of a strong control environment and use of information systems. Financial instrument 
risk management is carried out by an Investment Committee which reports to the Society’s Board 
of Directors. The Board sets written policies for risk tolerance and overall risk management, and 
management reports to the Board on compliance with the risk management policies of the Society. 
A Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (“SIPP”) and Investment Manager Mandates 
(“IMM”) are used to set overall risk tolerance. 

The Society is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial instruments, including credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk (which is comprised of interest rate risk, currency risk and other 
price risk). 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation it has entered into with the Society, resulting in a financial loss. 

The Society is exposed to credit risk principally through its cash and cash equivalents, directly 
held fixed income investments, amounts due from reinsurers and trade and other receivables. 
The Society has policies to limit and monitor its exposure to individual issuers and classes of 
issuers of investment securities which do not carry the guarantee of a national or Canadian 
provincial government. The Society invests short-term surplus cash in guaranteed deposits 
with British Columbia credit unions and federally incorporated Canadian banks.  
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued): 

(a) Credit risk (continued): 

The Society monitors its exposure in respect of receivables to ensure that credit is provided on 
normal commercial trade terms and to minimize the risk of any large concentration of credit 
risk.  

With regard to amounts due from reinsurers, the Society has policies to manage its exposure 
to individual reinsurers and it regularly reviews the creditworthiness of reinsurers with whom it 
transacts business. As at December 31, 2018, the Society’s reinsurers had a rating of A+ (2017 
- A) or above based on AM Best ratings. 

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the aging of trade and other receivables that were not 
impaired was as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Trade accounts receivable: 

Current (outstanding 1 - 30 days) $ 40,993 $ 29,046 
Outstanding 31 - 60 days 13,565 12,660 
Outstanding 60+ days 1,330 923 
  55,888 42,629 

 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (115) (403) 
Other accounts receivable 6,011 4,036 
 
  $ 61,784 $ 46,262 
 
The Society’s maximum exposure to credit risk is summarized below: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,988 $ - 
Fixed income securities 64,696 60,445 
Trade and other receivables 61,784 46,262 
Amounts due from reinsurers 4,011 8,594 
 
  $ 139,479 $ 115,301 
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued): 

(a) Credit risk (continued): 

Details concerning the credit quality of financial instruments held are described in the following 
tables. 
 
      Not 
2018 AAA AA A BBB rated Total 
 
Cash and cash equivalent $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 8,988 $ 8,988 
Fixed income securities 6,831 22,280 14,839 15,551 5,196 64,696 
Trade and other receivables - - - 6,452 55,332 61,784 
Amounts due from reinsurers - - 4,011 - - 4,011 
 
Total $ 6,831 $ 22,280 $    18,850 $ 22,003 $ 69,516 $ 139,479 
 
 
      Not 
2017 AAA AA A BBB rated Total 
 
Cash and cash equivalent $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Fixed income securities 14,191 26,916 14,322 5,016 - 60,445 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 46,262 46,262 
Amounts due from reinsurers - - 8,594 - - 8,594 
 
Total $ 14,191 $ 26,916 $ 22,916 $ 5,016 $ 46,262 $ 115,301 

 
In addition to direct credit risk as described above, the Society is subject to indirect credit risk 
through its investments in fixed income pooled funds. 

(b) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. Liquidity management involves maintaining sufficient cash 
and marketable securities or an adequate amount of funding to meet financial obligations as 
they come due. If the Society fails to anticipate the medium and long-term cash demands of its 
products and operations and/or the potential for variances arising from economic and 
regulatory changes, this could result in a risk of the Society having insufficient cash to meet its 
contractual obligations to policyholders, brokers, reinsurers, claimants or creditors. The Society 
has implemented policies and procedures to mitigate risks associated with liquidity 
management. These policies and procedures contribute to prudent and sound management of 
all aspects of liquidity. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Society’s cash flows and the maturity dates of 
liquid assets on the basis of expected cash flows.  

The Society’s financial liabilities, which are comprised principally of trade and other payables, 
have a maturity of one year or less. 
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued): 

(c) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and equity prices, will affect the Society’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.  

(i) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Society has direct exposure 
to interest rate risk primarily through its investment in fixed income securities. 

The effective annual interest rate of the fixed income securities portfolio at December 31, 
2018 was 2.86% (2017 - 2.39%). 

The immediate impact on the fair value of fixed income securities of a 1% change in interest 
rates would be approximately $3,146 (2017 - $3,808). 

In addition to exposure to direct interest rate risk, the Society is exposed to indirect interest 
rate risk through its investment in fixed income pooled funds. 

(ii) Currency risk: 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments denominated in 
currencies other than the Canadian dollar will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency 
risks. The Society is not directly exposed to currency risk as its services and transaction 
activity are conducted in Canadian dollars. However, the Society may be indirectly exposed 
to fluctuations in US and other foreign currency movements through its investments in 
pooled investment funds which invest in assets denominated in US dollar and other foreign 
currency.  

(iii) Other price risk: 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value of the financial instruments will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market prices, other than these arising from interest rate risk or 
currency risk, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment or its issuer 
or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 

Other price risk is managed by holding a diversified portfolio of investments and with the 
assistance of professional advisors. Furthermore, risk tolerance limits and concentration 
limits are formally set out in the Society’s SIPP. 

The immediate impact on of a 1% increase or decrease in the relevant benchmark indices 
associated with the Society’s investments would be approximately $1,175 (2017 - $585) 
with all other variables held constant and assuming the Society’s instruments moved 
according to historical correlation with relevant benchmark indices.  
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26. Fair value of financial instruments: 

(a) Measurement of fair values: 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. All fair value 
measurements relate to recurring measurements. Fair value measurements for investments 
are categorized into levels within a fair value hierarchy based on the nature of the valuation 
inputs (Levels 1, 2 or 3). 

The three levels are based on the priority of inputs to the respective valuation technique. The 
fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). An asset’s 
or liability’s classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of significant 
input to its valuation. 

The input levels are defined as follows: 

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

The Society defines active markets based on the frequency of valuation and any 
restrictions or illiquidity on disposition of the underlying investment and trading 
volumes. Assets measured at fair value and classified as Level 1 include Canadian 
and US common shares. Fair value is based on market price data for identical assets 
obtained from the investment custodian, investment managers or dealer markets. 
The Society does not adjust the quoted price for such investments. 

Level 2:  Quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 

Level 2 inputs include observable market information, including quoted prices for 
assets in markets that are considered less active. Assets measured at fair value and 
classified as Level 2 include short-term investments, bonds and pooled funds. Fair 
value for short-term investments and bonds is based on or derived from market price 
data for same or similar instruments obtained from the investment custodian, 
investment managers or dealer markets. Fair value for the pooled funds is 
determined based on the net asset value of the funds. 
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26. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(a) Measurement of fair values (continued): 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are 
significant to the estimated fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 assets and liabilities would include financial instruments whose values are 
determined using internal pricing models, discounted cash flows methodologies, or 
similar techniques that are not based on observable market data, as well as 
instruments for which the determination of estimated fair value requires significant 
management judgment or estimation. The Society’s finance department is 
responsible for reviewing the basis of the valuation of fair value measurements of 
Level 3 investments. The valuation processes and results for recurring 
measurements are reviewed and monitored by the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) at 
least once every quarter, in line with the Society’s quarterly reporting dates. The 
valuation processes and results for non-recurring measurements are reviewed and 
approved by the Controller and the CFO in the quarter in which the measurement 
occurs. All Level 3 valuation results are discussed with the Audit Committee as part 
of its review of the Society’s consolidated financial statements. Currently the 
Society’s only Level 3 investments consist of closed ended real estate pooled funds 
for which there is no observed trading activity. Fair value of these closed ended 
pooled funds is based on the respective fund’s net asset value as reported by the 
fund’s manager. 

The tables below analyze financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date by 
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized. The 
amounts are based on the values recognized in the statement of financial position. All fair value 
measurements below are recurring. 

Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2018: 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Fixed income securities $ - $ 64,696 $ - $ 64,696 
Fixed income pooled funds - 144,717 - 144,717 
Equity securities 69,695 - - 69,695 
Equity pooled funds - 47,816 - 47,816 
Real estate pooled funds - 52,940 17,121 70,061 
 
 $ 69,695 $ 310,169 $ 17,121 $ 396,985 
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26. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(a) Measurement of fair values (continued): 

Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2017: 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Fixed income securities $ - $ 60,445 $ - $ 60,445 
Fixed income pooled funds -  189,545 - 189,545 
Equity securities 71,444 - - 71,444 
Equity pooled funds - 49,717 - 49,717 
Real estate pooled funds - 50,322  12,602 62,924 
 
 $ 71,444 $ 350,029  $ 12,602 $ 434,075 
 
During 2018 and 2017, there were no significant transfers of investments between the three 
levels of the hierarchy. 

(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values: 

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances 
for Level 3 fair values. 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Opening balance $ 12,602 $ 7,857 
Total gains and losses recognized in net income 2,390 76 
Purchases 2,130 4,669 
Sales - - 
 
Closing balance $ 17,121 $ 12,602 
 
Total unrealized gain or loss relating to financial  

assets held at December 31 $ 2,390 $ 76 
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26. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Significant unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value: 

The table below sets out information about significant unobservable inputs used in measuring 
the fair value of Level 3 financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy as at December 31: 
 
      Sensitivity 
      to change 
      in significant 
  Fair Valuation Unobservable  unobservable 
2018 value technique input Amount input 
 
Real estate pooled funds $ 17,121 Unadjusted Net asset $ 17,121 The estimated 
    net asset value   fair value 
    value    would increase 
       (decrease) if the 

      respective fund’s 
       Net asset value 
       was higher (lower) 
 
 
      Sensitivity 
      to change 
      in significant 
  Fair Valuation Unobservable  unobservable 
2017 value technique input Amount input 
 
Real estate pooled funds $ 12,602 Unadjusted Net asset $ 12,602 The estimated 
    net asset value   fair value 
    value    would increase 
       (decrease) if the 

      respective fund’s 
       Net asset value 
       was higher (lower) 

 
The Society values its investment in real estate pooled funds based on the latest available 
financial information provided by the respective fund managers, which is based on the net asset 
value of the respective fund as determined by its manager. 

The real estate funds are subject to redemption restrictions and accordingly, the Society is 
unable to dispose of the investee until the maturity or wind-up and liquidation of the respective 
investee. In such cases, it is the Society’s policy to categorize the investee as Level 3 within 
the fair value hierarchy. 
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26. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Significant unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value (continued): 

The following table shows the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements to reasonably possible 
favourable or unfavourable changes in the unobservable input. If the net asset value were to 
change by +/- 10%, the impact is outlined below:  
 
  Change in after-tax income  
 Favourable Unfavourable 
 changes changes 
 
At December 31, 2018 $ 1,712 $ (1,712) 
At December 31, 2017  1,260  (1,260) 
 

 

27. Capital disclosure: 

The Society’s capital objective is to manage its capital to provide an available and effective 
resource to support business activities. Additional objectives include maintaining safety and 
stability by ensuring capital is adequate to reduce risk exposure in a variety of situations, and that 
sufficient capital exists for future needs and strategic initiatives and to satisfy expectations of 
members. 

The Society has implemented the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) 
guideline on Own Risk Solvency Assessment (“ORSA”). As a result, the Society has in place an 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy (“ERMP”), a Risk Appetite Policy (“RAP”) and a Risk 
Management Committee (“RMC”), which reports quarterly to the Board of Directors via the Audit 
Committee on all risk-related matters and has in place a Chief Risk Officer. The Society also has 
expanded scenarios under Dynamic Capital Adequacy Testing (“DCAT”) to others deemed 
appropriate by the Board and management. 

The Society is externally regulated by the Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia 
(“FICOM”). The Society reports quarterly to the regulatory agency. For the year beginning 
January 1, 2018, the regulatory agency imposes capital adequacy requirements through its Life 
Insurance Capital Adequacy Test (“LICAT”). The guidelines establishes a supervisory target total 
ratio of 100% and a supervisory target core ratio of 70%. The Society maintains a Capital Risk 
Management Policy to ensure objectives are met and capital is managed above target ratios of the 
LICAT. As at December 31 2018, the Society fully meets the regulatory capital requirements.  
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27. Capital disclosure (continued): 

Prior to January 1, 2018, the regulatory agency imposed the Minimum Continuing Capital and 
Surplus Requirements (“MCCSR”). The Society was in compliance with the requirements as at 
December 31, 2017.  

The Society manages its capital by maintaining an investment portfolio that is at least 180% to 
200% of the total equity of the Society. The SIPP requires high quality investments and the 
investment portfolio be presented to the Investment Committee of the Board every six months. Any 
substandard investments are sold to maintain the quality of the portfolio. The holdings may include 
pooled funds, bonds and common equities. There are concentration limits imposed as well to the 
portfolio, by industry and by investment instrument. 

 

To view the LICAT Ratios Public Disclosure Summary, please visit: https://www.pac.bluecross.ca/company/licat
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